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A. INTRODUCTION 

1. AFPL has previously indicated to the Court and to the parties that it does not pursue its 

application for commission.1 It follows that the Court need not consider or determine 

some of the legal issues that were raised in opening, in particular: 

1.1 whether the principles about agents being denied commission on account of 

misconduct should apply to reduce or eliminate the commission that may be 

awarded; and 

1.2 whether s 33ZF of the Supreme Court Act 1986 (Vic) (SC Act) and/or ss 28/29 

of the Civil Procedure Act 2010 (Vic) (CPA) can be relied upon to reduce or 

eliminate a commission to which a funder is entitled under funding agreements 

entered into with group members. 

2. These closing submissions address the following topics: 

2.1 

only: see Part B. 

2.2 Part C. 

                                                 
1  See Transcript of hearing on 13 August 2020 (T665:27-28) [TRA.500.007.0001 at 0008]. 
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2.3 Quantification of compensation: see Part D. 

2.4 Apportionment: see Part E. 

2.5 Penalty interest: see Part F. 

2.6 Costs: see Part G. 

B.  

3. As senior counsel for AFPL indicated to the Court on 13 August 2020, AFPL only 

pursues its application for costs in respect of three categories of costs. 

4. The first category are those costs which the Contradictor has not disputed.2 AFPL 

understands those costs to be as follows. 

1.  Simone Jacobson 

$65,340.003 for the period 12 September 2017 to 10 November 2017 

2. Contradictor at partial settlement   

One half of his fees were paid by AFPL pursuant to the orders made by 

Robson J on 26 August 2016 - $46,750.004 

3. Special Referee  Anthony Nolan SC 

 March to December 2017 

 $16,713.755 

4. Expert witness  Grant Sutherland 

 $4,950.006 

5. Expert witness  Kevin McCann 

   $20,475.007 

6. Cost of compliance with subpoena  ASIC 

                                                 
2  See Transcript of hearing on 13 August 2020 (T665:28) [TRA.500.007.0001 at 0008]  (T666:4) [0009]. 
3  See Fourth Trimbos Report at [135] [EXP.020.001.0003 at 0035]  [144] [0037]. 
4  See Fourth Trimbos Report at [154] [EXP.020.001.0003 at 0038] - [158] [0039]. 
5  See Fourth Trimbos Report at [159]-[162] [EXP.020.001.0003 at 0039]. 
6  See Fourth Trimbos Report at [163]-[167] [EXP.020.001.0003 at 0040]. 
7  See Fourth Trimbos Report at [168] [EXP.020.001.0003 at 0040] - [174] [0042]. 
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 $10,000.008 

7. Website services  NW Computing 

 $3,965.509 

8. Advertisement  Milligan De Lany Advertising 

 $64,058.4610 

9. Advertisement  Lake Design 

 $819.5011 

10. Registry Searches  Georgeson Shareholder Communications 

 $1,303.5012 

5. The Court should order that AFPL be reimbursed for these costs. There is sufficient 

evidence in the Fourth Trimbos Report for the Court to be satisfied that they were 

incurred, and reasonably so. And it is significant in that regard that the Contradictor did 

not dispute these costs. These amounts come to $234,375.71. 

6. The second category comprises the costs of Mr Crow in the amount of $28,604.6013 

for the period 27 May 2016 to 31 December 2018. There is no suggestion that those 

fees were not actually incurred, and there is no basis to find that they were not 

reasonably incurred. 

7. First, it was not shown in his cross-examination that he was anything other than an 

honest witness and practitioner who assisted Mr Bolitho in the discharge of his 

functions as lead plaintiff. Indeed, he was cross-examined on the basis that he made 

ti 14 There was no suggestion that Mr Crow acted inappropriately. 

8. Second, especially when it is contended by the Contradictor that the Lawyer Parties did 

not provide such assistance, there is no reason to deny costs for Mr Crow when he did 

provide such assistance as was within the limits of his retainer to provide. 

                                                 
8  See Fourth Trimbos Report at [175] [EXP.020.001.0003 at 0042]  [181] [0043]. 
9  See Fourth Trimbos Report at [182]-[184] [EXP.020.001.0003 at 0043]. 
10  See Fourth Trimbos Report at [185]-[188] [EXP.020.001.0003 at 0044]. 
11  See Fourth Trimbos Report at [189]-[191] [EXP.020.001.0003 at 0044]. 
12  See Fourth Trimbos Report at [192]-[197] [EXP.020.001.0003 at 0045]. 
13  See Fourth Trimbos Report at [72] [EXP.020.001.0003 at 0021]  [90] [0026]. 
14  Transcript of hearing on 3 August 2020 (T500:8) [TRA.500.005.0001 at 0087]; (T503:3-4) [0090]. 
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9. The third category comprises the costs of Portfolio Law and Mr Zita. They invoiced 

and were paid $401,808.00.15 That should be significantly reduced as Mr Trimbos 

opined in his fifth report.16 If the Court makes any findings against Portfolio Law and 

Mr Zita that has an impact on that figure, then the consequence is that AFPL paid those 

amounts to Portfolio Law and Mr Zita when they were not entitled to them. That 

difference will be recoverable by AFPL from Portfolio Law and Mr Zita. It is a matter 

for the Court to determine an appropriate reduction, noting that this is not a taxation,17 

 

C. NS 

10. Before the first day of the hearing, on 14 July 2020 (a revised version of the document 

was filed on 15 July 2020), AFPL filed a document making substantial admissions to 

allegations made by the Contradictor in Annexure A to their revised list of issues dated 

3 July 2020 (AFPL Admissions Document).18 

11. In that document, AFPL admitted the facts which would sustain a finding that Mr 

Symons were each agents of AFPL in respect of its application for 

commission and legal costs. Senior counsel for AFPL expressly indicated as much.19 

AFPL admitted as follows:20 

In respect of the conduct alleged in the sections that follow: 

(a) ons and Mr Zita/Portfolio Law advanced the 

interests of AFPL; and 

(b) ryan, Mr Symons and 

Mr Zita/Portfolio Law acting to advance the interests of AFPL in their 

 

                                                 
15  See Fourth Trimbos Report at [42] [EXP.020.001.0003 at 0014]. 
16  See Fifth Trimbos Report at [8(u)-(v)] [EXP.020.008.0001 at 0009]. 
17  See generally Downie v Spiral Foods Pty Ltd [2015] VSC 190 at [177] [ATH.600.039.0001 at 0042]  

[181] [0044]; Lenehan v Powercor Australia Ltd [2020] VSC 82 at [8] [ATH.600.060.0001 at 0004]  
[18] [0006]; [36] [0010]. 

18  [PLE.020.001.0001]. 
19  Transcript of hearing on 3 August 2020 (T489:13-16) [TRA.500.005.0001 at 0076]; Transcript of 

hearing on 4 August 2020 (T540:8-14) [TRA.500.006.0001_2 at 0002_2]. 
20  AFPL Admissions Document at [51] [PLE.020.001.0001 at 0027]. 
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12. In the circumstances, 21 and by Mr Symons22 

not to maintain any further defence of the proceedings or to contend against the Court 

AFPL accepts that to be so, and makes no submissions to the contrary. 

D. CIVIL PROCEDURE ACT CLAIM 

D.1 Principles 

13. At paragraphs 

October 2020 ( ), the Contradictor claims that 

for which they seek compensation and penalty interest. We deal with interest below. 

14. While not explicitly mentioned, this claim must be for an order under s 29(1)(c) of the 

CPA. That section provides: 

Court may make certain orders 

(1) If a court is satisfied that, on the balance of probabilities, a person has 
contravened any overarching obligation, the court may make any order 
it considers appropriate in the interests of justice including, but not 
limited to  

  

(c) an order that the person compensate any person for any financial 
loss or other loss which was materially contributed to by the 
contravention of the overarching obligation, including  

(i) an order for penalty interest in accordance with the 
penalty interest rate in respect of any delay in the 
payment of an amount claimed in the civil proceeding; or 

(ii) an order for no interest or reduced interest; 

15. Identification of loss necessarily entails a counterfactual analysis. Each member of the 

High Court in Lewis v Australian Capital Territory made this clear.23 

16. In that case, Gageler J said:24 

                                                 
21  See Transcript of hearing on 3 August 2020 (T485:9-22) [TRA.500.005.0001 at 0072]; Letter from 

MinterEllison to the parties dated 3 August 2020 [MSC.010.004.0001]. 
22  See Transcript of hearing on 13 August 2020 (T661:9-15) [TRA.500.007.0001 at 0004]. 
23  (2020) 94 ALJR 740 [ATH.600.253.0001]. 
24  (2020) 94 ALJR 740 at 752 [29]-[31] [ATH.600.253.0001 at 0013]. 
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Counterfactual analysis enters at the subsequent stage of determining whether, 

and if so to what extent, the liability of the Territory gives rise to an entitlement 

on the part of Mr Lewis to compensatory damages. 

The compensatory principle entitles the victim of a tort to no less and no more 

 put that party in the same 

 

No thresho

mandated by the compensatory principle is applied. Whether, and if so to what 

extent, compensable damage - - has occurred is 

determined through the application of the same analysis. The outcome 

determines the entitlement of the victim of the tort to compensatory damages 

and sets the outer limit of the extent of that entitlement. 

17. To identify the counterfactual, Gageler J said 

hypothetical nature of that counterfactual inquiry, the inquiry necessarily proceeds by 

drawing inferences from known facts to find the counterfactual position on the balance 
25 His Honour -specific inferential nature of the 

26 

18. Similarly, Gordon J said that:27 

when assessing compensatory damages, some counterfactual analysis is 

necessary. It is necessary because the settled principle governing compensatory 

damages is that they compensate for loss or injury. The measure is to be, as far 

as possible, that amount of money which will put the injured party in the same 

position they would have been in had they not sustained the wrong. Put in 

reflects the fact that the compensatory principle is one part of the question of 

relief, and that relief must  

19. when 

assessing damages would be to have a court award damages while blind to the realities 

                                                 
25  (2020) 94 ALJR 740 at 753 [35] [ATH.600.253.0001 at 0014]. 
26  (2020) 94 ALJR 740 at 753 [36] [ATH.600.253.0001 at 0014]. 
27  (2020) 94 ALJR 740 at 755-756 [50] [ATH.600.253.0001 at 0016]. 
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28 is necessary to identify loss in order to award 

compensatory damages. It is that inquiry which involves the use of a counterfactual. 

The counterfactual is the position the plaintiff would have been in had the tort not been 
29 S nterfactual is often useful in seeking to identify the 

is difficult to reach that conclusion [about compensable loss] without a 
30  counterfactual is directed only at determining the loss for which 

31 

is what would have happened if the t 32 

20. Kiefel CJ and Keane J likewise associated counterfactual analysis with the 
33 

21. Edelman J said:34 

Causation is a concept that establishes a link between a physical event and a 

physical outcome. Where a claim is brought for compensation for loss, the 

ome? That 

question is posed as a counterfactual: would the loss have lawfully occurred 

suffered the same loss but without a violation of their rights? If the loss would 

not otherwise have occurred then, subject to other legal issues including 

remoteness of damage, it is easy to see why the defendant should be responsible 

of the defendant the loss would have 

 

Causation of loss, in this strict sense, is not always required for a defendant to 

be responsible for losses arising from a wrongful act. In exceptional cases, a 

                                                 
28  (2020) 94 ALJR 740 at 758 [67] [ATH.600.253.0001 at 0019]. 
29  (2020) 94 ALJR 740 at 758 [69] [ATH.600.253.0001 at 0019]. 
30  (2020) 94 ALJR 740 at 758 [71] [ATH.600.253.0001 at 0019]. 
31  (2020) 94 ALJR 740 at 758 [72] [ATH.600.253.0001 at 0019]. 
32  (2020) 94 ALJR 740 at 763 [94] [ATH.600.253.0001 at 0024]. 
33  (2020) 94 ALJR 740 at 748 [2] [ATH.600.253.0001 at 0008]  [3] [0009]. 
34  (2020) 94 ALJR 740 at 775 [151]-[152] [ATH.600.253.0001 at 0036]. 
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defendant can be held responsible for a loss if their actions materially 

contributed to a loss which would have occurred in any event. A well-

established example is where a def

factor that induces an adverse decision resulting in loss even if that decision 

would have been made in any event. In order to include these exceptional 

cases within the test for the required link this Court has sometimes described 

the link required for imposition of responsibility as requiring the act to have 

in exceptional cases based on material contribution was traced by four 

members of this Court in Strong v Woolworths Ltd to a Scottish decision in 

which several factories had contributed to the polluted state of a river. In that 

case, liability for nuisance did not require the act of any single factory to have 

been necessary for the nuisance. As French CJ, Hayne and Kiefel JJ said in 

Hunt & Hunt Lawyers v Mitchell Morgan Nominees Pty Ltd, a material 

wrongdoer play some part in contributing to  

22. His Honour also said:35 

As explained above, the test for causation of loss asks whether the wrongful act 

to change one thing at a time and see if the outcome change

the removal of the wrongful act. If the loss would lawfully have occurred but 

for the wrongful act then the wrongful act was not necessary for the loss. The 

counterfactual approach thus involves a hypothetical question where no other 

fact or circumstance is changed other than those which constituted the wrongful 

act. 

23. The facts that (a) AFPL made significant admissions of wrongdoing in the AFPL 

their non-defence of this proceeding affects AFPL, do not mean that this Court may 

assess loss without engaging in a counterfactual analysis. In this regard, Bell, Keane 

and Nettle JJ explained in Berry v CCL Secure Pty Ltd that:36 

                                                 
35  (2020) 94 ALJR 740 at 783 [178] [ATH.600.253.0001 at 0044]. 
36  (2020) 94 ALJR 715 at 725 [27] [ATH.600.253.0001 at 0012]. 
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Permitting a fraudster to plead and prove a lawful counterfactual which, but for 

its fraud, the fraudster would have pursued, is not in any sense to permit the 

fraudster to take advantage of its fraud. As will be explained, it is to do no more 

than to limit the amount recoverable by the victim to the amount of loss or 

conduct within the meaning of s 82 of the TPA. That accords with the general 

principle at common law that a wrongdoer is not required to compensate a 

victim for loss which the wrongdoer does not cause, even where the cause of 

action is the tort of deceit. 

24. On 28 July 2020, the Court asked questions about the role of a counterfactual in this 

proceeding.37  

25. In its written opening submissions, AFPL explained how it saw a counterfactual arising 
38 

113. Application of the compensatory principle requires the Court to identify 

quantified to compensate for that loss  

114. 

to recover more and sooner. The Court should notice that there are three 

features embedded in this statement of the loss.  

114.1 First, it is necessary for the Court to determine how much 

commission and costs AFPL would have obtained had 

the disentitling conduct not occurred.  

114.2   Second, it is necessary for the Court to determine  

   when that amount would have been distributed to  

   group members.  

114.3  Third, the Court then needs to compare that 

counterfactual to the payments which were in fact made, 

and assess the difference.  

                                                 
37  Transcript of hearing on 28 July 2020 (T90:10-20) [TRA.500.007.0001 at 0008]. 
38  AFPL Opening Submissions at [113] [SBM.020.002.0001 at 0036] - [115] [0037]. 
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114.4  Fourth, it is a lost opportunity. Principles applicable to 

the assessment of opportunities apply to reduce the 

quantum unless the Court is satisfied that the opportunity 

would certainly have come to pass. 

115.  It is a matter for the Contradictor to prove the loss or damage on the 

balance of probabilities. 

26. y person for 

any financial loss or other loss which was materially contributed to by the contravention 

materially contributed to by the contravention. This is done by considering what would 

have occurred but for the contravention or contraventions. In this way, a counterfactual 

is required and introduced. 

27. List of 

Issues, it was and is implicit in it. Thus, for example:39 

27.1 paragraph 194(f) says 

reasonable costs and funding commission in a significantly lower sum than 

currently cla  

27.1 the particulars to paragraph 196(a) say 

debenture holders/group members would have received their proper entitlement 

to the Settlement Sum by about 21 March 2018 (assuming there had been no 

appeal) or alternatively by no later than 29 November 2018 (assuming there 

 

28. Group members should then be compensated by a sum of money that reflects the 

difference between what has occurred in fact and what would have occurred in the 

counterfactual analysis. 

D.2 Allegations made 

29. Notwithstanding the length with which AFPL has addressed the issue of a 

counterfactual above, there is some conceptual complexity in working out appropriate 

counterfactuals in this case. That is because several allegations of wrongdoing have 

                                                 
39  Issues [PLE.010.005.0001]. 
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been made (and will inevitably be found to have been established). The conceptual task 

of identifying and analysing counterfactuals, while clear in theory, is thus complex in 

practice. 

30. It is for the party seeking compensation (usually, the plaintiff) to establish its loss.40 In 

a proceeding in which serious allegations of wrongdoing are made, and where a detailed 

set of allegations has been frequently revised and relied upon, it is appropriate for this 

Court to proceed to identify the rel

has alleged.41 In any event, none of the parties has proceeded otherwise than on the 

basis of the Revised List of Issues, and it would not be appropriate to proceed as if the 

matter were at large. 

31. AFPL admits the following matters. 

31.1 In paragraph (1) to the particulars to paragraph 74 of the Revised List of Issues, 

wasted. AFPL admits this. 

31.2 Paragraph (1) to the particulars to paragraph 149 of the Revised List of Issues 

alleges 

associated with the First and Second Bolitho Opinions and the First Approval 

ely $125,000. AFPL admits this. 

31.3 As to paragraph 194(j), AFPL admits those matters save for the costs of the 

Bolitho Scheme. As to the Bolitho Scheme, AFPL refers to Part D.4 below. 

32. In a number of places, the Contradictor articulates the loss alleged by reference to 

different points in time at which it is said that debenture holders would have received 

the settlement sum. For example, in paragraph (5) to the particulars to paragraph 74 of 

the Revised List of Issues, the Contradictor alleges that:42 

Accordingl ns and Mr Zita/Portfolio Law 

fees were limited to a fair and reasonable amount reflecting the work actually 

                                                 
40  See, eg, Commonwealth v Amann Aviation Pty Ltd (1991) 174 CLR 64 at 80 (in the context of breach of 

contract) [ATH.600.244.0001 at 0017]. 
41  See and compare Australian Building and Construction Commissioner v Hall (2018) 261 FCR 347 at 

[49] [ATH.600.241.0001 at 0022]  [51] [0023] (civil penalty context). 
42  This allegation is effectively repeated in paragraph (6) of the particulars to paragraph 98 

[PLE.010.005.0001 at 0109], paragraph (5) of the particulars to paragraph 149 [0130], paragraph (4) of 
the particulars to paragraph 165 [0139], paragraph (2) of the particulars to paragraph 173 [0146], the 
particulars to paragraph 180 [0151] of the Revised List of Issues. See also paragraph 194(i) [0157] and 
196(a) [0158]. 
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undertaken by them and the rates they were properly entitled to charge, then by 

about 21 March 2018 or alternatively by about 29 November 2018, the 

Settlement Sum would have been distributed to debenture holders/group 

members. Debenture holders have suffered losses from the delay in payment of 

$5 - $7 million. The Contradictor refers to paragraph 196(a) below. 

AFPL submits below in Part D.3 that the appropriate date is 29 November 2018.  

33. Several paragraphs in the Revised List of Issues seek costs associated with this remitter. 

Those paragraphs are: 

33.1 Paragraphs (6) and (7) to the particulars to paragraph 74 of the Revised List of 

Issues. 

33.2 Paragraph 159(b) of the Revised List of Issues. 

33.3 Paragraph 194(k), (l) and (m) of the Revised List of Issues. 

33.4 Paragraph 196(b) of the Revised List of Issues. 

AFPL resists this for the reasons set out in Part D.4 below. 

34. As to paragraph 159(a) of the Revised List of Issues, AFPL does not press for those 

 

35. Leaving aside discrete heads of loss, the gist of th

counterfactual is that but for the contraventions, Croft J would have approved 

applications by AFPL for a commission and costs at a lesser amount than actually 

occurred. That gives rise to a number of sub-issues. 

D.2.1 Apportionment 

36. The first sub-issue is how much of the $64 million Settlement Sum would have been 

apportioned or attributed to the Bolitho Group Proceeding and how much would have 

been apportioned or attributed to the SPR proceeding. 

37. AFPL submits that the Settlement Sum would have been apportioned on the basis that 

66% is attributable to the Bolitho Group Proceeding, for the same reasons that were set 

out in opening and are repeated here. The reasons in summary for this contention are 

as follows. 

37.1 This appor

ck SC, 
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Mr Redwood and Ms Bindon, that the Bolitho Group Proceeding had better 

prospects of success. It is only one percentage point above the range proffered 

by Mr Dick SC, Mr Redwood and Ms Bindon of 50-65%. 

37.2 It is consistent with the Partial Settlement. 

37.3 It is consistent with material contemporaneous with the settlement in November 

2017. 

38.  SC and Mr Symons consistently opined 

Proceeding.43 

no disagreement on this score. 

39. counsel. In the joint memorandum of advice of R A Dick SC and 

 viewing the 

two sets of claims by Banksia and Class Action, from the standpoint of the best interests 

of debenture-holders, as complementary such that in combination the position of 

debenture-holders is vastly improved than if either of them were being pursued 
44 

reasonable prospects of success (slightly bet

an 
45 

40. 
46 and they opined th

o 
47  

                                                 
43  al and Privileged Joint Opinion in Reply dated 13 March 

2019 at [82] [CCW.032.001.0253 at 0282]. 
44  Joint memorandum of advice of R A Dick SC and J A Redwood dated 12 May 2017 at [5] 

[SPR.007.001.0001 at 0001]. 
45  Joint memorandum of advice of R A Dick SC and J A Redwood dated 12 May 2017 at [34(a)-(b)] 

[SPR.007.001.0001 at 0008]. See also Joint supplementary memorandum of advice of R A Dick and J 
A Redwood dated 7 November 2017 at [2(b)-(c)] [SPR.007.001.0010 at 0010]; Confidential and 
privileged joint opinion in reply of R A Dick SC, J A Redwood and P Bindon dated 19 March 2019 at 
[3(a)-(b)] [CCW.022.001.0460 at 0460]. 

46  Confidential and privileged joint opinion in reply of R A Dick SC, J A Redwood and P Bindon dated 19 
March 2019 at [14] [CCW.022.001.0460 at 0463]. 

47  Confidential and privileged joint opinion in reply of R A Dick SC, J A Redwood and P Bindon dated 19 
March 2019 at [15] [CCW.022.001.0460 at 0463]. 
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41. Further, they said:48 

At the outset we emphasise that in our opinion it is highly likely that the very 

favourable settlement of $64 million against Trust Co (exhausting Trust Co's 

assets) was likely a result of both the Bolitho Proceeding and the SPR 

Proceeding. The settlement was the product of the combined forensic, legal and 

strategic advantages of the prosecution of the two sets of claims. For that reason, 

we think it would be somewhat artificial, as we emphasised in the Previous SPR 

Opinions, to fasten singularly on the claims made against Trust Co in the 

Bolitho Proceeding or the SPR Proceeding in isolation. Nothing that is said 

below is intended to suggest we think the settlement of $64 million could 

necessarily have been achieved through the prosecution of the SPR Proceeding 

alone. We were always acutely conscious of the significance of the Bolitho 

Proceeding. Equally, however, we are confident that the settlement of $64 

million would not have been achieved had only the Bolitho Proceeding been 

prosecuted and without the immediate, and wider, benefits of the SPR 

Proceeding and the SPRs' conduct of the Proceedings. 

42. They opined:49 

At the same time, we accept, other things being equal, Mr Bolitho's claims on 

behalf of debenture holders enjoyed better prospects of success than Banksia's 

claims because Banksia's claims had to confront some challenging and novel 

legal points. There would appear to be a fair degree of agreement between us 

and counsel for Mr Bolitho in that regard. In particular, we agree with the 

Bolitho Opinion (at [159]) that the claims made in the Bolitho Proceeding 

accorded with legal principle and were orthodox. It had that distinct and 

 

43. They rejected a 80/20 apportionment,50 

think a more appropriate characterisation of the two claims, in light of the actual 

                                                 
48  Confidential and privileged joint opinion in reply of R A Dick SC, J A Redwood and P Bindon dated 19 

March 2019 at [19] [CCW.022.001.0460 at 0465]. 
49  Confidential and privileged joint opinion in reply of R A Dick SC, J A Redwood and P Bindon dated 19 

March 2019 at [89] [CCW.022.001.0460 at 0488]. 
50  Confidential and privileged joint opinion in reply of R A Dick SC, J A Redwood and P Bindon dated 19 

March 2019 at [90] [CCW.022.001.0460 at 0488]. 
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pleadings and evidence in the Proceedings rather than from a narrower juridical 

viewpoint only, is that Bolitho's claims enjoyed good prospects of success (around 

60%) and Banksia's claims had reasonable prospects of success (around 50%) and 
51 

44. Ultimately, they opined:52 

In light of the Previous SPR Opinions and the above matters, we consider that 

a reasonable range for an apportionment (similar to the exercise performed for 

the Partial Settlement for purposes of determining a denominator for the funding 

commission) of the settlement sum would be to attribute between 35% to 50% 

to the Banksia's claims compromised by the Settlement Deed. This assessment 

is necessarily based on a somewhat abstract legal assessment of the relative 

prospects of the two sets of claims and the different mix of advantages and 

challenges of those claims. However, we consider it a reasonable range within 

which some element of commercial latitude and judgment and a range of other 

relevant considerations could be brought to bear on the issue. 

45. In their response opinion dated 2 April 2019, 

Bolitho's claims enjoyed somewhat better prospects of success in all the circumstances 

if the SPRs continued to be principally responsible for prosecution of the Proceedings: 

which in turn informed our apportionable range of 35-50% for Banksia's claims out of 
53 

46. Should the apportionment be at the low end (that is, 50:50) of the range contemplated 

, taking into account the work actually done by the lawyers in the 

Bol

counsel who were aware of the relative contributions of the legal teams to the successful 

settlement. Those contributions reflected the work done, not the work not done but 

billed for. 

                                                 
51  Confidential and privileged joint opinion in reply of R A Dick SC, J A Redwood and P Bindon dated 19 

March 2019 at [91] [CCW.022.001.0460 at 0488]. 
52  Confidential and privileged joint opinion in reply of R A Dick SC, J A Redwood and P Bindon dated 19 

March 2019 at [241] [CCW.022.001.0460 at 0532]. 
53  R A Dick SC, J A Redwood and P Bindon, Confidential and privileged joint opinion in further reply 

dated 2 April 2019 at [3] [CCW.032.001.0287 at 0287]. 
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47. Partial settlement. In relation to defendants who were defendants in both the Bolitho 

oceeding, the partial settlement was apportioned as 

to two-thirds to the Bolitho Group Proceeding and one- eeding.54 

48. Contemporaneous documents. Lindholm had agreed to a 80/20 split.55 The Committee 

also considered it and was content to proceed.56 Dick, Redwood and Bindon opined that 

matic 

and commercial reasons explaining the SPRs' support, subject to independent Court 
57 

49. On 10 November 2017, Mr Paul Harlond of Ferrier Hodgson sent an email to Mr 

Lindholm that said relevantly:58 

As discussed, please find attached a spreadsheet, which sets out the estimated 

outcome for Debenture holders if the settlement with Trust Co proceeds at $64 

million. The spreadsheet: 

* Includes an analysis as to how the split between Banksia and the Class 

Action may play out to assist in your meeting this afternoon with Mark. 

 

50. The spreadsheet which Mr Harlond attached apportioned the sum on the basis that two-

thirds should be apportioned to the Bolitho Group Proceeding and one-third to the 

.59 Mr Lindholm gives evidence that:60 

apportionment of the Settlement Sum 

from the Partial Settlement as a starting point, but this had not been discussed 

with Mr Elliott and all figures in the spreadsheet could be changed depending 

                                                 
54   and Privileged Joint Opinion in Reply 

dated 13 March 2019 at [26]-[27] [CCW.032.001.0253 at 0263]. 
55  See Confidential affidavit of John Ross Lindholm dated 29 March 2019 at [16] [SPR.006.001.0005 at 

0005_0004] - [20] [0005_0006]. 
56  See Confidential affidavit of John Ross Lindholm dated 29 March 2019 at [18] [SPR.006.001.0005 at 

0005_0004]. 
57  Confidential and privileged joint opinion in reply of R A Dick SC, J A Redwood and P Bindon dated 19 

March 2019 at [16] [CCW.022.001.0460 at 0464]. 
58  Tab 1 in Confidential Exhibit JRL-1 to the Confidential Affidavit of John Ross Lindholm dated 29 March 

2019 [SPR.006.001.0005 at 0009]. 
59  Tab 1 in Confidential Exhibit JRL-1 to the Confidential Affidavit of John Ross Lindholm dated 29 March 

2019 [SPR.006.001.0005 at 0009]. 
60  Confidential Affidavit of John Ross Lindholm dated 29 March 2019 at [14] [SPR.006.001.0005 at 0003]. 
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Elliott and was 

an internal document only. 

51. An apportionment of the commission of two thirds 

favour of the SPR is reasonable.  

D.2.2 Percentage of debenture holders by value 

52. The second sub-issue is from what percentage of debenture holders by value would 

AFPL have been entitled to recover. In this remitter, AFPL did not adduce admissible 

evidence of this, and ultimately did not need to pursue an application to seek to file any 

counterfactual, the Court can and should proceed on the basis that AFPL had made 

funding agreements with 55% of debenture holders by value. That was the figure used 

at the partial settlement, and no misconduct has been alleged in respect of the use of 

that figure at that time. Nor has any of the disentitling conduct gone to the sub-issue of 

the percentage of debenture holders by value. 

D.2.3 Percentage commission rate 

53. The third sub-issue is the commission rate which would have been ordered. As at the 

end of 2017 and the beginning of 2018, it is very probable that a common fund order 

would have been sought rather than a claim under the funding agreements. But in 

identifying the counterfactual, the inference to be drawn is that AFPL would have opted 

for whichever option would lead to the best commercial outcome for itself as a rational 

commercial firm. 

54. That means at a minimum, it would have sought the 30% commission it was entitled to 

from debenture holders with whom it had made funding agreements. In that regard, the 

Funding Agreement) contained the following cla

entitlement to commission:61 

12. Repayment of Case Costs and Consideration 

                                                 
61  The funding agreement with Mr Bolitho is [CCW.002.001.1511]. The standard form was attached to a 

letter to debenture holders which is [CCW.022.001.0090]. 
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12.1. Subject to any necessary Court order, the Plaintiff acknowledges and 

agrees that upon Resolution, BSLLP is entitled to be paid from the 

Resolution Sum as follows: 

(a)  the Case Costs paid by BSLLP in relation to the Class Action to 

which the Resolution Sum relates; and 

(b)  a further amount, as Consideration for the financing of the Case 

and performance by BSLLP of its various obligations under this 

BSLLP Agreement, being a maximum of 30% of that Resolution 

Sum. 

12.2.  No fees, commissions or other payments will become due or owing by 

the Plaintiff to BSLLP in relation to the Case. 

55. Clause 1.1 contained definitions relevant to the operation of this clause as follows: 

Case means the Proceedings; 

Case Costs  

(a)  the costs and expenses associated with the Case Investigation and Case 

Management by the Lawyers or BSLLP or both; 

(b)  the costs involved in the provision by BSLLP of any security for costs; 

(c)  any Adverse Costs Order paid by BSLLP; 

(d)  the costs incurred by BSLLP in quantifying any Adverse Costs Order; 

(e)  the reasonable legal fees and the reasonable disbursements (including 

Counsel fees) reasonably incurred by the Lawyers for the dominant 

purpose of preparing for, conducting and resolving the Proceedings; 

(f)  any costs paid by BSLLP pursuant to this BSLLP Agreement; 

(g)  

relation to the Case, including in relation to any consultants and experts 

engaged by BSLLP ; and 

(h)  any GST payable on any Supply made by any entity as a result of the 

above costs or expenses being incurred. 
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Claims ve against some 

or all of the Defendants and for loss and damage caused to the Plaintiff by the 

conduct of one or more of the Defendants in relation to or arising out of the 

acquisition by the Plaintiff of any Securities. 

Class Action gs commenced by the Plaintiff in the 

Supreme Court of Victoria (SCI 2012 7185) against the Defendants. 

Consideration  

Plaintiff

be bound by this Agreement and the successors or assigns of that company or 

individual. 

Proceedings  

Resolution Sum

compromise or resolve one or more or all of the Claims. 

56. In short, clause 12.1(b) entitled AFPL to commission of up to 30% of the money 

received or payment made to settle the Bolitho group proceeding. 

57. Clause 12.2 entitles AFPL to recover 30% of the Resolution Sum from each person 

who entered into a Funding Agreement. The 

30%. The contractual entitlement is 30%.62 

58. The words identify a fixed sum by way of percentage, and the language of 

does nothing more than identify for group members, in simple language, that they are 

to pay 30% of the Resolution Sum to AFPL by way of commission and not more. 

D.2.4 Commission 

59. It is appropriate in the counterfactual to use this contractual claim, because it is 

improbable that any common fund order would have been made by Croft J which 

permitted AFPL to recover more than what it was entitled to under the funding 

agreements. 

                                                 
62  See also Re Banksia Securities Ltd (rec and mgr apptd) [2017] VSC 148 at [104] (Robson J) 

[ATH.600.098.0001 at 0026]. 
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60. It follows that the commission which would have been ordered in the counterfactual is 

66% x 55% x 30% x $64 million = $6,969,600. 

61. It follows that, subject to the recovery of costs, group members would have received 

$57,030,400. 

D.2.5 Costs 

62. In the counterfactual, AFPL would have also sought and been permitted to recover 

costs. The costs which would have been incurred and paid in accordance with usual 

terms would have included the following. 

63. First, the costs which AFPL seeks to recover in Part B above. 

64. Second further 

defence of this proceeding, it is clear from the SPRs that he did engage in work.63 An 

inflation, which was $1,049,300.64 

65. Third, an allowance of $200,000 would be made fo 65 

D.2.6 Overall amount 

66. It follows that debenture holders in the counterfactual would have received $57,030,400 

- $1,049,300 - $200,000 - $234,375.71 - $28,604.60  (Portfolio Law/Zita) = 

$55,518,119.69  (Portfolio Law/Zita) (Counterfactual Amount). 

D.3 Timing 

67. The Court should find that Mrs Botsman would have sought leave to appeal Croft 

proposed grounds of appeal extended to the fairness and reasonableness of the total 

settlement sum. 

                                                 
63  See, eg, Transcript of hearing on 27 July 2020 (T78:8-16) [TRA.500.001.0001 at 0079]; Confidential 

and privileged joint opinion in reply of R A Dick SC, J A Redwood and P Bindon dated 19 March 2019 
at [20] [CCW.022.001.0460 at 0465], [52] [0476], [60] [0477], [64] [0479], [77] [0484]. 

64  See [NOB.500.001.7416]. 
65  billed a total of $709,726 (inclusive of GST). His fee slips [EXP.020.005.0001] refer to 

approximately 1000 hours of attendances, conferences and appearances, equating to fees of 
approximately $280,000. When the fee slip entries are compared against the available documentary 
evidence of work undertaken, in excess of $160,000 in fees appear justified (see excel spreadsheet at 
Attachment A to these submissions). In the circumstances, AFPL suggests an allowance of $200,000 is 
reasonable.  
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68. That Mrs Botsman was unsatisfied with the total settlement sum of $64 million is clear 

from grounds 3 and 4 before the Court of Appeal. Those are set out in its judgment.66 

69. The fairness and reasonableness of the total settlement sum had nothing to do with any 

disentitling conduct. No evidence has been put before the Court to suggest that but for 

any disentitling conduct, Mrs Botsman would not have sought leave to appeal. 

70. It follows that an application for leave to appeal was inevitable. It may be that the Court 

of Appeal would have determined such an appeal more quickly had there been less 

issues in dispute. It is nonetheless appropriate to fix the relevant time by which group 

members might have received a distribution of the Counterfactual Amount at 29 

November 2018 (being 28 days after the delivery of judgment by the Court of 

Appeal).67 That has a foundation in fact, not speculation. And it can be seen to be 

appropriate, having regard to the lack of any proper basis to infer when the Court of 

Appeal might otherwise have delivered a judgment. 

71. In setting the date at 29 November 2018, the Court is thus not taking into account the 

possibility that group members would have received the Counterfactual Amount in 

December 2018 (or even February 2019 given the time of year), because 29 November 

2018 assumes that funds could be distributed immediately. By not taking this into 

account, the Court is, in effect, but appropriately, splitting the difference and thereby 

appropriately doing the best that it can. 

D.4 Costs 

D.4.1 Costs of the remitter 

72. The costs of the SPRs and of the Contradictor of the remitter should not be payable as 

compensation as a matter of legal principle.  

73. The Contradictor is effectively in the position of a party, representing the interests of 

debenture holders in assisting the Court.68 The SPRs are a party to the proceeding. As 

with any party which is successful, the Contradictor (or the group members to pay the 

Contradictor) and the SPRs will obtain costs orders in their favour. Any difference 

                                                 
66  Botsman v Bolitho (2018) 57 VR 68 at 101-102 [158] [ATH.600.102.0001 at 0034], 136 [338] [0069] -

138 [347] [0071]. 
67  Settlement Deed at cl 7.2.5 [MSC.020.002.0001 at 0012]. 
68  Bolitho v Banksia Securities Ltd (receivers and managers appointed) (in liq) [2019] VSC 653 at [73(c)] 

[ATH.600.022.0001 at 0027]. 
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between the costs order and fees actually incurred and payable cannot as a matter of 

long-standing legal principle be recovered as damages.69 (And of course, if no costs 

order is obtained, then that does not mean that damages can be awarded instead to fill 

the gap; this just means that the difference between any cost order  on this hypothesis, 

none  and fees actually incurred is all the greater.) 

D.4.2 Costs of First Approval 

74. The approval before Croft J is part of this proceeding. Costs of that approval thus fall 

within the same principle above in Part D.4.1. Fees incurred by the SPRs are to be 

recovered if at all in the form of an order for costs, not as damages. 

D.4.3 Court of Appeal Costs and High Court costs 

75. 

the High Court special leave application are not recoverable as damages in this 

proceeding. 

76. It is unnecessary to determine whether the Court of Appeal proceeding and the special 

leave application are separate from or part of this proceeding. Either way, costs are not 

recoverable as damages. 

77. If the appeal proceedings are seen as part of this proceeding, then the above principle 

in Part D.4.1 applies with the same force. 

78. If the appeal proceedings are separate, then a related principle derived from the High 

Court decision in Anderson v Bowles.70 Costs incurred by one party in proceedings are 

not recoverable against a person who was also a party to those other proceedings in 

separate litigation.71 

                                                 
69  See Cockburn v Edwards (1881) 18 Ch D 449 at 459 [ATH.600.243.0001 at 0011] (Jessel MR), 463 

[ATH.600.243.0001 at 0015] (Cotton LJ); Doe v Filliter (1844) 13 M & W 47 at 51 (Pollock CB) 
[ATH.600.245.0001 at 0002]; Avenhouse v Hornsby Shire Council (1998) 44 NSWLR 1 at 34 
[ATH.600.242.0001 at 0034]  36 [0036] (Sheller JA; Mason P and Priestley JA agreeing); Queanbeyan 
Leagues Club Ltd v Poldune Pty Ltd [2000] NSWSC 1100 at [34] [ATH.600.255.0001 at 0019] - [39] 
[0021] (Hamilton J); Gray v Sirtex Medical Ltd (2011) 193 FCR 1 at 9 [15] (Bennett, Gilmour and 
Gordon JJ) [ATH.600.247.0001 at 0009]; Lamont v University of Queensland [No 2] [2020] FCA 720 
at [715] (Rangiah J) [ATH.600.252.0001 at 0155]. 

70  See Anderson v Bowles (1951) 84 CLR 310 at 323 [ATH.600.014.0001 at 0014]. 
71  See also McIntyre v Quality Roofing Services Pty Ltd [No 2] [2019] SASCFC 69 at [16] 

[ATH.600.254.0001 at 0005]. 
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E. APPORTIONMENT 

79. AFPL does not advance any submissions on whether apportionment is possible under 

Part IVAA of the Wrongs Act 1958 (Vic). No doubt the power to order compensation 

under s 29(1)(c) of the CPA requires separate orders against defendants, and in doing 

 

80. On the assumption that apportionment is possible, and in the circumstances of Mr 

 against them, 

AFPL submits that counsel and AFPL are at least equally responsible. 

F. PENALTY INTEREST 

81. The Court can order penalty interest: s 29(c)(i) of the CPA. The Contradictor seeks such 

the payment of an amount 

claim 72 

82. AFPL makes the following submissions. 

83. First, there is no warrant for penalty interest to be imposed prior to 17 May 2019 when 

the High Court refused AFPL special leave to appeal from the orders of the Court of 

Appeal. Unless applying for special leave was in fact a breach of some contractual 

entitlement not to apply (which it is not), then AFPL, like any other litigant, had an 

entitlement to seek that special leave. No party should be penalised for doing so. That 

would itself undermine the administration of justice. Interest at a standard commercial 

rate would be more appropriate to strip AFPL of the benefit of the use of funds during 

that period, rather than to penalise it for exercising its right to seek special leave. 

84. Second, it would be inappropriate to impose penalty interest on AFPL from 14 July 

2020 onwards when AFPL filed the AFPL Admissions Document. Those admissions 

were appropriate on the documents and the evidence which Mr 

Symons proposed at the time to give. As each of them made their decisions not to 

contest the allegations made against them, AFPL has proceeded appropriately to 

confine its claims. It has not participated in the application for disqualification or the 

appea that regard. Nor did it participate in the challenge to 

 

                                                 
72  See Revised List of Issues at [196(d)] [PLE.010.005.0001 at 0159]. 
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85. Third, it would be wrong to order interest or penalty interest for the period of the 

prosecution of the allegations against the Estate of Mr Trimbos or Alex Elliott. The 

significant delay caused by these matters was not caused or contributed to by AFPL. 

86. Some useful guidance can be gained from the context of s 60 of the SC Act, where the 

purposes of an award of interest have been described as follows:73 

There are three main objectives of the award of interest. First, as compensation 

to the judgment creditor for being out of the funds from the date of 

commencement of the proceeding until judgment; secondly, to deter judgment 

debtors from delaying proceedings and thereby having the use of the money for 

a longer period; and finally, to encourage defendants to make realistic 

assessments of their liability in a case and to take bona fide steps to compromise 

the claim. 

87. Penalty interest from 14 July 2020 is unnecessary to achieve the second and third 

purposes. Any award must also account for the interest earned on the funds retained by 

the SPRs. 

G. COSTS 

88. In so far as the Contradictor and the SPRs seek their costs on an indemnity basis, the 

appropriate time to address the Court on those issues would appear to be after the 

delivery of judgment, in the usual way. No significant delay is occasioned by that 

course, in circumstances where it is clear that there will have to be post-judgment 

matters determined in any event. In that regard, the SPRs have foreshadowed 

enforcement issues that are yet to be properly ventilated. 

89. But for the avoidance of doubt, AFPL contends that costs should not be awarded against 

it on an indemnity basis from 14 July 2020 onwards when it filed the AFPL Admissions 

Document. It engaged in no conduct at least from that point onwards warranting an 

award of costs on an indemnity basis. 

                                                 
73  Johnson Tiles [No 3] [2003] VSC 244 at [61] (Gillard J) [ATH.600.249.0001 at 0016]; Kalenik v 

Apostolidis [No 2] [2009] VSC 410 at [83] (Hargrave J) [ATH.600.250.0001 at 0024]; Amcor Ltd v 
Barnes [No 2] [2019] VSC 849 at [87] (Sloss J) [ATH.600.240.0001 at 0031]  - [88] [0032]; Kilpatrick 
v Head, Transport for Victoria [No 2]  [2020] VSC 241 at [28] (Garde J) [ATH.600.251.0001 at 0006]. 
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90. Further, a party should not necessarily be made liable for duplicative costs when parties 

with the same interest both choose to participate.74 There is a general principle that 

where multiple defendants with the same interest are separately represented against the 

same plaintiff, it will generally be proper for the plaintiff, if unsuccessful, to be 

burdened with only one set of adverse costs. That is the position here. As this Court has 

75 As Jordan CJ said in Ex parte McCay while considering costs 

in contempt proceedings:76  

There are two application before us, both arising out of the same paragraph, by 

two of the persons whose actions may be prejudicially affected. Each of those 

persons was, of course, entitled to bring the matter to the notice of the Court. 

But it does not follow that, if an order for costs should be made against the 

present case, it must have been manifest by the time that the rules nisi were 

granted that there was no possible cleavage between the two applicants, and no 

reason why they should not thenceforth join forces in presenting their 

applications to the Court, apart, of course, from a natural desire to be 

represented each by counsel of his own choice. But this is a desire that they are 

not entit

reason. 

91. If parties with the same interests elect to be separately represented, they bear the onus 

of demonstrating that a sufficient reason exists for departing from the general 

principle.77 That burden is not discharged merely by pointing to factors which explain 

their decision to have separate representation. 

92. Some closer scrutiny is warranted of the extent to which any costs of the SPRs are to 

be disallowed on this basis. Any amount unrecoverable by the SPRs against the parties 

will be borne by the group members. 

  

                                                 
74  See and compare Talacko v Talacko [2017] VSC 804 [ATH.600.092.0001], referring to Van Eeden v 

Henry (2005) 62 NSWLR 301 [ATH.600.094.0001]. 
75  Bolitho v Banksia Securities Ltd (receivers and managers appointed) (in liq) [2019] VSC 653 at [76] 

[ATH.600.022.0001 at 0028]. 
76  (1936) 36 SR (NSW) 592 at 595 [ATH.600.246.0001 at 0004]. 
77  HP Mercantile Pty Ltd v Hartnett [2017] NSWCA 79, [14]-[15] [ATH.600.248.0001 at 0009]. 
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Date: 26 February 2021 

S R Horgan 

C J Tran 

Counsel for AFPL 



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

 A
















































